FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/29/2024 4:36 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 39625-8-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TINA MACKAY

Petitioner,

VS.

PEMCO MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Clay M. Gatens, WSBA #34102 Gatens Green Weidenbach PLLC 305 Aplets Way Cashmere, WA 98815 (509) 888-2144 Beth E. Terrell, WSBA #26759 Ryan Tack-Hooper, WSBA #56423 Seth M. Dawson, WSBA #56055 Terrell Marshall Law Group PLLC 936 N. 34th Street, Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98103 (206) 816-6603

Case #: 1034202

Attorneys for Petitioner Tina Mackay

# **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case concerns the amount that Defendant PEMCO Mutual Insurance Company must pay to homeowners like Plaintiff Tina MacKay under the terms of PEMCO's homeowner's insurance policy (the Policy) for replacement of personal property. Ms. MacKay represents a certified class of homeowners insured by PEMCO. She understands the Policy to require PEMCO to pay insureds like her an initial Actual Cash Value (ACV) payment, which is calculated by determining the replacement cost of lost property (comprising the price of a new item plus sales tax) and then adjusting the price of the new item—but not the sales tax—to account for physical depreciation of the property. PEMCO counters that the Policy allows it to pay less than the full amount of sales tax in its initial ACV payment, thus requiring homeowners like MacKay to float the remaining amount of sales tax when they pay to replace the damaged property.

The ACV of MacKay's damaged property exceeded \$90,000. The cost to replace those items was even higher.

Because PEMCO refused to pay the full amount of sales tax in its ACV payment, MacKay could not afford to replace all her damaged property. The result is that PEMCO has retained the difference between its improperly discounted ACV payment and the full replacement cost of MacKay's property, creating a windfall of thousands of dollars for the insurer.

Yet in affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment for PEMCO, the Court of Appeals concluded that it would be MacKay who would receive a windfall if PEMCO were required to pay her the full amount of sales tax in its ACV payment. This conclusion is contrary to this Court's reasoning in *Holden v. Farmers Insurance Co. of Washington*:

Regardless of whether the insured replaces the lost or damaged property, she paid sales tax when buying it originally. [The insured's] loss, for example, included the sales tax she paid when she bought the furniture and kitchen items. Furthermore, taking sales tax into account does not result in her reaping a windfall. Holden is not being paid an amount for sales tax she never incurred. Rather, the sales tax is simply included in calculating the replacement cost of the damaged property before subtracting for depreciation which is one way to estimate the property's current value.

169 Wn.2d 750, 759, 239 P.3d 344 (2010) (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals further concluded that the Policy unambiguously requires only partial payment of sales tax in the ACV payment—even though the Policy does not mention sales tax or explain how sales tax is to be included in the ACV payment.

Discretionary review is necessary to address the conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and this Court's reasoning in *Holden*, as well as the Court of Appeals' failure to address the decisions from courts in other states that read similar insurance policy provisions to forbid depreciation of sales tax. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The decision also impacts issues of

substantial public interest because thousands of

Washingtonians are affected by the question of how insurers

are to calculate the sales tax portion of ACV under policies

similar to the one at issue in this case. RAP 13.4(b)(4). For

these reasons, the Court should grant this petition and accept
review.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Tina MacKay holds a PEMCO homeowner's insurance policy, under which she made timely claims after a fire damaged her home and personal property. She filed this action to recover the full amount of sales tax due under that policy on behalf of herself and a proposed class of insureds. MacKay respectfully asks this Court to grant her petition for review.

## III. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In *MacKay v. PEMCO Mutual Insurance Co.*, No. 39625-8-III, 2024 WL 3573842 (Wash. Ct. App., July 30, 2024), Division Ill of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's summary judgment in favor of PEMCO, terminating review. That decision is attached in Appendix A ("the COA Opinion").

### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1) Does the Court of Appeals' decision that the Policy is not ambiguous as to the treatment of sales tax in PECMO's initial ACV payment conflict with this Court's decision in Holden v. Farmers Insurance Co. of Washington, 169 Wn.2d 750, 239 P.3d 344 (2010)? [Yes. Like the insurance policy in Holden, the Policy is ambiguous because it does not mention sales tax or explain how sales tax is to be included in payments to the insured.]
- 2) If so, is MacKay's interpretation of the Policy reasonable? [Yes. It is reasonable to interpret the Policy as requiring PEMCO to calculate the ACV payment by determining the replacement value of lost property, including price and

sales tax, and then reducing the price to account for physical depreciation of the property.]

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The PEMCO Policy provides a two-step process for covered losses: an initial depreciated Actual Cash Value payment followed by a full Replacement Cost payment if the homeowner replaces the lost item.

PEMCO issues standardized homeowner insurance policies providing coverage for losses to dwellings and personal property from specified perils. CP 247-49. MacKay purchased her Policy from PECMO to cover her home in Cashmere, Washington. CP 115, 118. Coverage C of the Policy applies to personal property losses. CP 124.

Under Coverage C, "[c]overed property losses are settled" using "Replacement Cost," which the Policy defines as "the cost, at the time of loss, of a new article identical to the one damaged, destroyed or stolen." CP 123, 131. Where the replacement cost for the entire loss exceeds \$1,500, however,

PEMCO "will pay no more than the Actual Cash Value for the loss or damage until the actual repair or replacement is complete." CP 131. The Policy defines "Actual Cash Value" as "the market value of new, identical or nearly identical property less reasonable deduction for wear and tear, deterioration and obsolescence." CP 148.

PEMCO first makes an initial ACV payment to the insured based on its calculation of the property's "market value," less a deduction for depreciation. CP 148. Then, if the insured can afford to replace the property, PEMCO will reimburse the insured for the difference between the ACV payment and the actual replacement cost paid. CP 123. If the property is not replaced, no further payment is made.

When calculating the amount of the ACV payment for an item subject to sales tax, PEMCO determines the "market value" based on the prices of comparable replacements, then adds local sales tax to that purchase price, and finally

depreciates the entire amount by a percentage derived from a standardized depreciation table for personal property. CP 263-64.¹ The amount of the depreciation reflected in the depreciation table approximates how the property physically degrades over time. CP 273. "Each classification of personal property has its own useful life for purposes of depreciation.

Some types of property depreciate quickly, while others depreciate very little (if at all)." CP 261. To calculate ACV payments at scale, PEMCO uses software that "automatically"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mathematically, the payment made to the insured is the same whether PEMCO calculates the sales tax on the price of the replacement item and then depreciates the sum of the price and tax, or if it applies a partial sales tax based on the depreciated price term. The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that this mathematical equivalence means the sales tax owed to MacKay has not been depreciated. COA Opinion at 14. Not so. While the *rate* of sales tax has not been depreciated, the *amount* of sales tax owed to MacKay has. Regardless of whether PEMCO depreciates the sum of replacement cost and sales tax or applies the sales tax to the depreciated replacement cost, PEMCO is reducing the amount of the sales tax portion of the replacement cost by the depreciation factor.

calculates the depreciation percentage" based on the depreciation schedule for the relevant classification of personal property. CP 263-64.

PEMCO concedes that depreciation "applies to the item itself" only, not sales tax. CP 274. Like labor costs or profit margins, sales tax is an intangible cost that does not "wear and tear, deteriorat[e] or [become] obsolet[e]." CP 123. Yet despite PEMCO's admission that depreciation does not apply to sales tax—and despite the fact that sales tax is an intangible cost that does not wear, tear, deteriorate, or become obsolete— PEMCO applies the depreciation percentage to both the price of the physical replacement of the item and the associated, intangible sales tax. In so doing, PEMCO deprives MacKay and other insureds of the full benefits of the coverage they paid for. And PEMCO wrongfully places the burden on the insured to float the withheld amount of sales tax when replacing a lost item.

B. Ms. MacKay brought suit challenging PEMCO's ACV depreciation of sales tax, and PEMCO moved for summary judgment of all claims.

Based on PEMCO's standard practice of withholding portions of sales tax from ACV payments, MacKay sued PEMCO on behalf of a class of insureds for breach of contract, violation of Washington's Insurance Fair Conduct Act, violation of the Consumer Protection Act, bad faith, unjust enrichment, and declaratory judgment. CP 369-85.

The trial court certified the class and appointed MacKay as class representative in November 2021. CP 386-391. Shortly after, PEMCO moved for summary judgment on all of the class's claims. CP 001-34. The trial court granted the motion, and MacKay timely appealed. CP 366-68, 358-60.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, and MacKay now petitions this court for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

#### VI. ARGUMENT AND GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

A. This Court should grant the petition for review because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Holden*.

The Court of Appeals misapprehended and misapplied this Court's decision in *Holden*. The Court of Appeals' reasoning directly contradicts key aspects of the *Holden* decision, creating an untenable conflict with this Court's precedent. And the Court of Appeals misstated important aspects of *Holden*'s reasoning, which—unless corrected—will create confusion and inconsistency among Washington courts. This Court should grant review to address the conflict and prevent further confusion in this important area of Washington law.

- 1. The Court of Appeals' reasoning contradicts key aspects of the *Holden* decision.
  - a. In Holden, this Court explained that part of an insured's loss is the sales tax they paid to purchase the lost item.

Holden concerned an insured's challenge to her insurer's practice of excluding sales tax from its calculation of fair market value when the insured did not replace her lost property. Holden, 169 Wn.2d at 752. The question was whether the "fair market value" of a new item, used to determine the value of a lost item before depreciation, was "subject to a reasonable interpretation that accounts for sales tax." Id. This Court found that the undefined policy terms were ambiguous and so construed the provisions in favor of the insured. Id.

In reaching this conclusion, the Court explained why sales tax is properly included in an insurer's initial ACV payments. The Court recognized that an insured's "full loss . . . include[s] the sales tax [they] paid when [they] bought the property" covered by their insurance policy. Id. at 759. So "taking sales tax into account does not result in [an insured] reaping a windfall." Id. Instead, including the full sales tax in

the ACV payment does not result in the insured "being paid an amount for sales tax [they] never incurred." Id. "Rather, the sales tax is simply included in calculating the replacement cost of the damaged property . . . ." Id. Calculation of the sales tax component of the replacement cost occurs "before subtracting for depreciation." Id.

b. The Court of Appeals' reasoning conflicts with Holden.

Though *Holden* did not reach the question whether sales tax can be depreciated when an ACV definition provides for depreciation of the price of replacement property, it did set forth several propositions about sales tax that the Court of Appeals contradicted in reaching the result in this case.

First, the Court of Appeals held that "PEMCO is not indemnifying the insured against some amount of sales tax the insured paid at some time in the past." COA Opinion at 13.

That holding is squarely contradicted by *Holden*, where this

Court explained that the insured's "full loss . . . included the sales tax she paid when she bought the [damaged property]."

Holden, 169 Wn.2d at 759. This Court noted that "[t]he indemnity argument fails to recognize [the insured's] full loss and does not reflect how ACV coverage works." Id. The Court of Appeals directly contradicts Holden's explicit reasoning.

Second, the Court of Appeals held that public policy does not require reimbursement of full sales tax because such reimbursement assumes "that [the insured] paid sales tax when the item was purchased" and that this was too speculative to be considered in what an insurance policy should cover. COA Opinion at 12. In *Holden*, this Court expressed no such concern and explained that in these types of policies the insurer uses a theoretical construct of "fair market value" to evaluate the loss. *Holden* recognized that "sales tax is simply included in calculating the replacement cost of the damaged property" because of the purpose of that

theoretical measurement of loss. *Holden*, 169 Wn.2d at 759.

The Court of Appeals thus contradicts *Holden*'s implicit reasoning.<sup>2</sup>

Third, the Court of Appeals held that "Ms. MacKay would receive a financial windfall if PEMCO was required to pay MacKay sales tax calculated on the replacement cost of damaged property even if she chooses not to replace the damaged property." COA Opinion at 11. Again, the Court of Appeals' reasoning is squarely rejected by *Holden*, which explains that "taking sales tax into account [for the ACV payment] *does not result in [the insured] reaping a windfall*."

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals' reasoning also contradicts PECMO's actual practices. PEMCO does not require insureds to prove the price they originally paid for lost property, or the sales tax applicable to that property at the time. Instead, PEMCO bases its assessment of ACV on the current "market value of new, identical or nearly identical" items and applies the current sales tax rate. Because PEMCO does not require insureds to show the price or amount of sales tax originally paid, the Court of Appeals' reasoning is inapposite.

Holden, 169 Wn.2d at 759 (emphasis added). That is because the insured "is not being paid for sales tax she never incurred."

Id. Thus, sales tax is properly "included in calculating the replacement cost of the damaged property before subtracting for depreciation" from that replacement cost. Id.

c. Under Holden, the Court of Appeals should have concluded that the Policy is ambiguous.

The Court of Appeals' reasoning is also inconsistent with Holden's broader ambiguity analysis. This inconsistency has the potential to produce confusion and uncertainty in subsequent cases. Had the Court of Appeals faithfully applied Holden's reasoning, it would have concluded that the Policy is ambiguous for two reasons.

(i) Like the policy in *Holden*, the Policy here is ambiguous because it does not explain how sales tax is included in initial ACV payments.

The *Holden* Court concluded that the policy at issue was ambiguous primarily because that policy did not mention sales

tax or explain how sales tax would be included in the ACV payment required by the policy. The *Holden* policy "define[d] ACV as 'the fair market value of the property at the time of loss,'" but it "d[id] not define FMV or . . . expressly state whether sales tax is accounted for in calculating ACV or FMV." *Holden*, 169 Wn.2d at 753-54 (citations to record omitted). This Court reasoned that "there is nothing intrinsic in the notion of FMV that necessarily includes or excludes sales tax." *Id.* at 758. Accordingly, the Court concluded that the *Holden* policy was "at least ambiguous in terms of whether the calculation of ACV will . . . include[] sales tax." *Id.* at 760.

The Policy at issue here is ambiguous for the same reason: it does not explain the role that sales tax plays in the calculation of ACV. PEMCO agrees that sales tax should be included in the ACV of damaged property, but the parties disagree about how that sales tax should be calculated. COA

Opinion at 7 (citing Resp't Br. at 23-24). The Policy does not specify; it is therefore ambiguous.

PEMCO agrees that the relevant definition of ACV in the Policy is as follows: "the market value of new, identical or nearly identical property less reasonable deduction for wear and tear, deterioration and obsolescence." CP at 123. Nowhere in this definition does the Policy explain how sales tax should be calculated for the purpose of the initial ACV payment. Thus, the Policy is "at least ambiguous" as to that question. *Holden*, 169 Wn.2d at 760.

Yet the Court of Appeals concluded that "the Policy is not ambiguous" even though "the Policy's definition of 'actual cash value' lacks any reference to sales tax." Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision contradicts this Court's approach to ambiguity in *Holden*.

(ii) Like the policy in *Holden*, the Policy here is ambiguous because it is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation.

The parties offer competing interpretations of the Policy as to the calculation of sales tax in the initial ACV payment. As Holden and myriad other cases recognize, a policy term "will be deemed ambiguous if it is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation." Holden, 169 Wn.2d at 756 (citing Kitsap County v. Allstate Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 567, 576, 964 P.2d 1173 (1998)). Because MacKay's interpretation is reasonable, the Policy is ambiguous and her interpretation prevails. See id. at 760 ("Given such ambiguity, [the insured's] reasonable interpretation of the policy must be accepted.").

PEMCO interprets ACV as a measure of how much it would cost to buy a used version of the lost property (including sales tax). Call it the "garage sale" interpretation. If a new couch cost \$100 and \$10 sales tax was paid, then using the

garage sale interpretation with a 50% depreciation rate, the ACV payment for a lost used couch would be \$55.

MacKay's interpretation—which is more consistent with Holden's teachings about the role of sales tax in these policies—is that ACV is designed to approximate the insured's loss by taking a theoretical measure of the cost paid in the past and making an adjustment for the physical degradation of the item. Call it the "accountant" interpretation. Under the Policy, the calculation of ACV starts with "the market value of new, identical or nearly identical property." CP 148. As Holden requires, that initial figure includes not just the price or value of the new item, but also the sales tax paid on it. Holden, 169 Wn.2d at 759. Accordingly, the "market value of new" figure has two components: the price (or value) of the item and the sales tax. To account for the fact that the insured has lost a used rather than new version of the item, the Policy does what an accountant would do and applies depreciation to the value

of the item—reducing that component of the "market value of new" measurement for "wear and tear, deterioration and obsolescence." CP 148.

Using the numbers from the prior example, in the accountant interpretation an insured's loss is the \$10 sales tax originally paid and the depreciated value of the couch (\$50), resulting in a measure of loss (and therefore an ACV payment) of \$60.

This interpretation is reasonable. *Holden* explains that an insured's loss "include[s] the sales tax she paid when she bought the furniture." *Holden*, 169 Wn.2d at 759. So while the value of the couch in our example has depreciated over time, the sales tax paid has not. For the same underlying reasons this Court articulated in *Holden*, MacKay's interpretation of how to calculate the sales tax component of ACV is reasonable. *See id.* at 756 (citation omitted).

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