FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/30/2024 4:22 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1034202

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 39625-8

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION III**

TINA MACKAY,

Petitioner.

v.

PEMCO MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CORR CRONIN LLP

Blake Marks-Dias, WSBA No. 28169 Todd T. Williams, WSBA No. 45032 Victoria E. Ainsworth, WSA No. 49677 Mark Rutherford WSBA No. 57519 1015 Second Avenue, Floor 10 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 625-8600 Fax: (206) 625-0900

Email: bmarksdias@corrcronin.com twilliams@corrcronin.com tainsworth@correronin.com mrutherford@corrcronin.com

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Division Three's unpublished opinion is consistent with this Court's decision in *Holden*. (RAP 13.4(b)(1))

The only decision of this Court that Petitioner claims conflicts with the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is *Holden v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 169 Wn.2d 750, 239 P.3d 344 (2010). *See* Petition at 11–24. But Petitioner fails to identify

any actual conflict between Division Three's decision and Holden.

Even a cursory glance at the appellate court's unpublished opinion reveals that Division Three carefully analyzed *Holden* and *relied* upon this Court's reasoning in that case to properly hold here that the ACV definition in the Policy was unambiguous and PEMCO's calculation of the ACV payment was consistent with the methodology this Court approved of in *Holden*.

1. The Court of Appeals applied the same basic principles of contract interpretation as this Court did in *Holden*.

The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion does not "contradict[] this Court's approach to ambiguity in *Holden*," so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). *See* Petition at 18. Petitioner, not Division Three, disregards the basic tenets of contract interpretation in arguing that the ACV definition is automatically ambiguous simply because the provision does not explicitly detail the formula used for calculating sales tax in an ACV payment.

The Court of Appeals' opinion accurately recites and relies upon the same well-settled principles of contract

interpretation underlying this Court's "approach to ambiguity in *Holden*." Division Three correctly recognized that "[u]ndefined terms do not automatically create ambiguity." Opinion at *4 (*Int'l Marine Underwriters v. ABCD Marine, LLC*, 179 Wn.2d 274, 284, 313 P.3d 395 (2013)). Rather, undefined terms are simply given their "plain, ordinary, and popular" meaning. *Holden*, 169 Wn.2d at 764.

Moreover, Petitioner fails to understand that courts "consider the policy as a whole," giving it a "fair, reasonable, and sensible construction as would be given to the contract by the average person purchasing insurance." Opinion at *4 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Com. Union Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 654, 665–66, 15 P.3d 115 (2000)). A clause in an insurance policy is thus "only considered ambiguous if it is fairly susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations." Id. (emphasis added) (citing Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co., 154 Wn.2d 165, 171, 110 P.3d 733 (2005)). As Division Three astutely noted, "the expectations of the insured cannot override the plain language of the contract." Id. (quoting Int'l Marine, 179 Wn.2d at 284).

As discussed below, the Court of Appeals' opinion properly applied these foundational tenets of contract interpretation to correctly conclude that the Policy's ACV definition is unambiguous because it is only susceptible to one *reasonable* interpretation: sales tax in an ACV payment is properly calculated based on the depreciated market value of the damaged or lost item at the time of loss.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly held that PEMCO's interpretation of the actual cash value definition is the only reasonable interpretation.

Division Three correctly held that PEMCO's interpretation is the only reasonable interpretation of the ACV definition in light of *Holden* and the plain language of the Policy.

a. PEMCO's interpretation is on all fours with this Court's interpretation of the sales tax calculation in Holden.

In *Holden*, this Court held that "the absence of a definition for FMV[] creates an ambiguity *as to whether sales tax is included* under the ACV provision of the Policy" that must be construed against the insurer "to include consideration of Washington State sales tax." 169 Wn.2d at 760 (emphasis added). Notably, the Court did not hold that the absence of a

FMV definition inherently creates ambiguity as to *how* sales tax is calculated.

This is because, as Division Three recognized here, "the average insurance consumer would understand actual cash value to be the replacement cost, or what it would cost to replace an item in the market, *less depreciation to reflect the age or wear and tear of the damaged property.*" Opinion at *4 (emphasis added) (discussing *Holden*, 169 Wn.2d at 757). Thus, the only *reasonable* interpretation of the ACV definition in both *Holden* and the Policy here is that the insured will be indemnified for the (appropriately) depreciated market value of the damaged item at the time of loss, including sales tax *on that depreciated market value*.

This Court's recognition in *Holden* that sales tax is properly calculated in relation to the depreciated market value of the damaged or lost item at the time of loss reinforces the propriety of Division Three's conclusion that the Policy is unambiguous here. This Court has expressly approved of "one way to estimate the property's current value": "the sales tax is simply included in calculating the replacement cost of the

damaged property *before subtracting for depreciation*." *Id.* at 759 (emphasis added).

Like in *Holden*, the purpose of the ACV provision here is to indemnify the insured for the value of the lost item at the time of the loss. See Holden, 169 Wn.2d at 761. Therefore, also like in Holden, PEMCO calculated the sales tax based on the depreciated value of the damaged item (i.e., the market value at the time of loss). To determine the market value, PEMCO would generally find a comparable replacement item in the market and use the purchase price of that item as the damaged item's estimated replacement cost. PEMCO then would depreciate the pre-tax replacement cost as appropriate to account for the item's age and condition to arrive at the pre-tax ACV. If the item is taxable (i.e., the insured would be required to pay sales tax when purchasing the item), PEMCO would then apply the sales tax rate in effect in Petitioner's zip code and added that sales tax amount to the pre-tax ACV to arrive at the ACV. See Resp. Br. at 27.

¹ The "replacement cost," meanwhile, indemnifies Petitioner for the actual cost she incurred in replacing the item—including sales tax. *See* Resp. Br. 6–8.

The Court of Appeals astutely recognized that this methodology is entirely consistent with the formula this Court approved of in *Holden*, because *both methods yield the exact same result*. *See* Opinion at *6. The order of operation is immaterial—PEMCO would arrive at the exact same ACV under either methodology.

For example, assume that an item's replacement cost is \$10.00, the applicable sales tax rate is 10%, and 30% depreciation is appropriate to account for the damaged item's age and condition.

Methodology No. 1: Under the general methodology PEMCO utilizes, PEMCO depreciates the replacement cost (\$10.00) by the appropriate depreciation factor (30%) to arrive at the damaged item's pre-tax ACV (\$7.00). PEMCO then applies the applicable sales tax rate (10%) to the pre-tax ACV (\$7.00) to calculate the sales tax amount (\$0.70). Finally, PEMCO adds the sales tax (\$0.70) to the pre-tax ACV (\$7.00) to determine the item's ACV (\$7.70).

Methodology No. 2: Alternatively, PEMCO could use the exact formula this Court articulated in *Holden*. First, the sales tax would be "included in calculating the replacement cost of the

damaged property": \$10.00 (replacement cost) + \$1.00 (10% sales tax) = \$11.00 (total replacement value). Then PEMCO would calculate the appropriate depreciation amount based on that total replacement value ($$11.00 \times 30\% = 3.30), "before subtracting for depreciation" (\$11.00 - \$3.30) to reach the item's ACV (\$7.70).

Both methods calculate the exact same ACV (in this example, \$7.70). This is because both methodologies calculate the sales tax based on the market value of the damaged or lost personal property at the time of the loss—just as *Holden*, the Policy, and the average, reasonable insurance consumer each contemplates.

b. Division Three correctly rejected Petitioner's mischaracterization that the sales tax was improperly "depreciated."

The Court of Appeals correctly held that PEMCO's calculation of actual cash value does not improperly "depreciate" sales tax.

First, "[a]s an initial matter, the record fails to show that PEMCO depreciated sales tax." Opinion at *5. As illustrated above, PEMCO simply "depreciated the value of the *damaged*

property and then applied the sales tax rate for Ms. MacKay's zip code." *Id.* (emphasis added). PEMCO's methodology is consistent with the plain language of the Policy, which expressly provides that the ACV of a damaged item will be calculated by looking at the "market value of new, identical or nearly identical property *less reasonable deduction for wear and tear, deteriorating and obsolescence.*" Resp. Br. at 6–8; Opinion at *2.

Second, Division Three astutely recognized, Petitioner's characterization of "the sales tax as having been 'depreciated' in the context of calculating actual cash value is a mischaracterization." Opinion at *6. Sales tax decreasing as the value of an item decreases is not "depreciation"; "[t]he sales tax rate is simply pegged to the cost of an item purchased in the retail marketplace." Id. See RCW 82.08.020(2)) ("Sales tax is calculated as a percentage of the retail selling price of an item."). It is both common sense and the law that the "selling price' determines the amount of sales tax due 'on each retail sale." State, Dep't of Revenue v. Bi-More, Inc., 171 Wn. App. 197, 203–04, 286 P.3d 417 (2012) (quoting RCW 82.08.020(1)). Indeed, "[c]onsumers in Washington regularly purchase used items in the marketplace at varying discounts compared to new

items, understanding they will pay sales tax on the used price of the item rather than the new price." Opinion at *5 (emphasis added).

Finally, Petitioner cites no Washington law prohibiting the depreciation of sales tax. On the contrary, this Court in *Holden* approved of such "depreciation" in its "replacement-cost-minusdepreciation" valuation formula. See 169 Wn.2d at 759-60. While "this Court in *Holden* was not asked whether the sales tax portion can be depreciated" (Petition at 23), the Court did contemplate that the sales tax portion of the market value would decrease in correlation to any decrease in the value of the damaged property (such as deductions for depreciation). See 169 Wn.2d at 759; Opinion at *6. As Division Three recognized, "when calculating the actual cash value of an item, the same value may be reached by either adding the replacement cost and associated sales tax before applying depreciation" (Holden methodology) "or by applying depreciation to the replacement cost and then adding sales tax" (PEMCO's general practice). Opinion at *6. In either scenario, the sales tax is correspondingly reduced as the value of the *item* is depreciated. That is simply how sales tax works.

The Court of Appeals properly held that PEMCO's calculation of sales tax is (a) entirely consistent with the methodology this Court approved of in *Holden* and (b) the only reasonable interpretation of the ACV definition.

3. The Court of Appeals properly rejected Petitioner's strained interpretations of the Policy's actual cash value definition.

Division Three wisely rejected Petitioner's strained interpretations of the ACV definition as unreasonable.

The ACV definition unambiguously states that PEMCO will pay Petitioner "the market value of new, identical or nearly identical property less reasonable deduction for wear and tear, deterioration and obsolescence." Opinion at *2 (quoting CP 123). Again, the purpose of the ACV payment here (and in *Holden*) was to indemnify Petitioner for the market value of the lost or damaged property *at the time of the loss. See Holden*, 169 Wn.2d at 761 ("the ACV provision indicates that the measure of recovery is related to 'the amount necessary to repair or replace the damaged property") (quoted source omitted).

The Policy does not require PEMCO to indemnify Petitioner for the value of the damaged item *at the time of the* original purchase; nor does the Policy require PEMCO, in the initial ACV payment, to indemnify Petitioner for the value of a brand new replacement item. The Court of Appeals therefore prudently rejected Petitioner's illogical interpretations of the ACV definition that would require PEMCO to (a) somehow calculate and include in the ACV payment the amount of sales tax the insured originally paid on the item at some indeterminate time in the past; or (b) rewrite the plain language of the Policy so that the sales tax component of the replacement cost payment is advanced prior to the actual replacement of the item, as part of the ACV payment.

Division Three also correctly rejected the Petition's contention that either of Petitioner's interpretations is rendered reasonable based on nonbinding and inapposite authority suggesting that labor costs are not subject to depreciation.

a. Petitioner's interpretation that actual cash value should include the full sales tax previously paid on the damaged item at the time of original purchase is illogical and unreasonable.

Petitioner's interpretation of the ACV definition as requiring PEMCO to indemnify her against some speculative

amount of sales tax that she paid at some point in the past when originally purchasing the damaged item is inherently unreasonable because, again, the purpose of the ACV payment is to indemnify the insured for the market value of the damaged item *at the time of the loss*, "including the associated sales tax." Opinion at *6. The ACV payment does not "indemnify[] the insured against some amount of sales tax the insured paid at some time in the past." *Id*.

Moreover, Petitioner's interpretation would be impractical, if not entirely unworkable. Such an interpretation "is premised on the assumption that she paid sales tax when the item was purchased." Opinion at *5. Even assuming Petitioner *had* "paid sales tax at the time of purchase, sales tax rates vary over time and location." *Id.* For example, a Washington resident could have traveled to Oregon, which has no sales tax, to make a larger purchase decades ago. Because PEMCO would have no way of knowing that when calculating the ACV, the insured would receive an improper windfall if the ACV included the presumed original sales tax paid.² Simply put, "[a]ny attempt to estimate

² By comparison, to receive the replacement cost payment, the Policy requires Petitioner to submit documentation of the

the amount of sales tax Ms. MacKay may have paid when purchasing the now-damaged property would be grounded in assumptions and speculation." *Id.* This interpretation is inherently unreasonable.

Holden never held—or even insinuated—that an actual cash value payment should "include the sales tax she paid when she bought the furniture." Petition at 21 (quoting Holden, 169 Wn.2d at 759). This Court in Holden merely acknowledged that the insured's loss there "included the sales tax she paid when she bought the furniture and kitchen items"; therefore, "taking sales tax into account" in calculating the ACV to indemnify the insured for the *current* value of the damaged property at the time of loss "does not result in her reaping a windfall." 169 Wn.2d at 759. And "one way to estimate the property's *current* value" is to include the *current* sales tax rate when "calculating the replacement cost of the damaged property before subtracting for depreciation." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Regardless, by including sales tax in the market value of a damaged item, PEMCO *did* assume that Petitioner originally

actual cost she incurred (including sales tax) in purchasing a replacement item. *See* Resp. Br. at 6–8, 20–21.

paid sales tax on the item and indemnified Petitioner for the *current* market value of the damaged item, including the sales tax component. PEMCO's interpretation of the Policy is the only reasonable one under *Holden*.

b. Petitioner's interpretation that the actual cash value should include sales tax calculated on the replacement cost is unreasonable.

Division Three also properly rejected Petitioner's proposed bifurcation of the ACV payment—which would include sales tax calculated based on the replacement cost of a new item, added to the depreciated market value of the replacement item—as unreasonable and contrary to the expectations of any reasonable consumer. *See* Opinion at *5.

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